IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

Appeal No. 32787

Walter Gauze, By Next Friend Mary Meade,

Appellee (Plaintiffs)

v.

I. NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS AND THE RULINGS BELOW

NUFIC is seeking relief from an Order entered in the Circuit Court of Mingo County, West Virginia on February 9, 2005, (hereinafter “Order”), and amended by Order of February 15, 2005 (hereinafter “Amended Order”), which denied NUFIC’s Motion for Summary Judgment on an insurance coverage issue. This matter arises from a dispute between NUFIC and the West Virginia

Guaranty Association, (“Association”), the latter party defending Chidetta Reed relative to a claim for personal injury damages being pursued by the plaintiff in the underlying case. At the time of the accident at issue, Ms. Reed was insured by an automobile liability policy issued by Oak Casualty Insurance Company. The Association assumed the defense of Ms. Reed relative to the plaintiff’s underlying claims, due to the fact that Oak Casualty was declared insolvent by order of the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois on November 19, 2002.¹ Both insurance policies, the Oak Casualty policy and the NUFIC policy, were issued for the vehicle involved in the subject accident. The issue decided in the Court below is whether the NUFIC policy provides primary coverage for the plaintiff’s loss or whether the Association must provide coverage for the plaintiff’s claims as though it were the primary insurance carrier.

The Association has asserted that the plaintiff must first recover under the NUFIC policy, which was obtained by the West Virginia Board of Risk and Insurance Management, before the Association has any obligation to provide coverage for plaintiff’s damages.² NUFIC has asserted that its insurance policy at issue is an “excess” policy according to its plain language and therefore does not provide primary insurance coverage for the plaintiff’s claims.³ Both NUFIC and the Association (on behalf of Chidetta Reed), filed cross- motions for summary judgment on the insurance coverage issue in this case.⁴ On February 9, 2005, the Court entered an Order denying

¹See Order, Findings of Fact ¶ 5.

²See Defendant Chidetta Reed’s Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, Feb. 3, 2005, p. 6.

³See NUFIC’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum in Support thereof, Dec.9, 2005.

⁴See NUFIC’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum in Support thereof, Dec. 9, 2005; See Chidetta Reed’s Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum in Support thereof, Feb. 3, 2005.

NUFIC's Motion for Summary Judgment, and Granting Defendant Chidetta Reed's Motion for Summary Judgment.⁵ The Court held that the NUFIC policy provides primary insurance coverage relative to the Plaintiff's claim.⁶ On February 15, 2005, the Court entered an Amended Order to reflect the finality of the Court's decision, pursuant to Rule 54 (b) of the *West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure*, so that an appeal could be taken from the decision on the insurance question.⁷

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Although there are factual disputes in the underlying personal injury action giving rise to the insurance coverage dispute, their resolution is not necessary for this Court's decision on the legal issue of coverage available under the NUFIC policy presented to and adjudicated by the Court below. The facts giving rise to NUFIC's appearance in this case are undisputed. The Plaintiff filed the Complaint in this matter on September 3, 2003.⁸ The Complaint was filed by Mary Meade, on behalf of Walter Gauze, against Chidetta Reed, alleging that Defendant, Chidetta Reed, was the driver of a vehicle on September 4, 2001, when she negligently operated the vehicle and caused a one vehicle collision that resulted in injuries to the Plaintiff Walter Gauze.⁹ The plaintiff claims to have been a passenger in the vehicle at the time of the accident.¹⁰ According to the accident report, Walter Gauze was found lying on the side of the road around 7:30 a.m. after being ejected from a 1993 Ford Escort Wagon that apparently had veered off the road and collided with an embankment.

⁵See Order, Conclusions of Law ¶ 11.

⁶See Order, Conclusions of Law ¶ 10.

⁷See Amended Order, p. 5.

⁸See Complaint.

⁹See Complaint at ¶ 2 - ¶ 4.

¹⁰ See Complaint at ¶ 2.

The vehicle rolled over at least one time in a remote part of Wayne County, West Virginia.¹¹ Mr. Gauze alleges to have incurred medical bills and other damages arising from this accident.¹²

The vehicle involved in the accident was owned by the Human Resource Development Foundation, (“HRDF”), a non-profit agency and an administrator of the state funded “Wheels to Work Program.”¹³ The Wheels to Work program provided lower income applicants with transportation for job purposes. HRDF qualified for certain excess insurance coverage purchased from NUFIC through the West Virginia Board of Risk and Insurance Management (“BRIM”), as authorized by *West Virginia Code* § 29-12-5 .¹⁴ The vehicle was leased to Chidetta Reed by the HRDF under a lease- to- own agreement.¹⁵ The HRDF also purchased an automobile liability policy for the vehicle involved in the subject accident from Oak Casualty Insurance Company, designating both HRDF and Ms. Reed as insureds.¹⁶ On November 19, 2002, after the subject accident but prior to the filing of the Complaint, Oak Casualty was declared insolvent and liquidation was ordered by the Circuit Court of Cook County, Illinois.¹⁷ By virtue of the insolvency order, the Association assumed the defense of this action on behalf of the Defendant, Chidetta Reed.¹⁸

¹¹See NUFIC’s Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, Exhibit 5, Dec. 9, 2005.

¹²See Complaint.

¹³See Order, Findings of Fact ¶ 3.

¹⁴See Order, Findings of Fact ¶ 6.

¹⁵See Order, Finding of Fact ¶ 3.

¹⁶See Order, Findings of Fact ¶ 7.

¹⁷See Order, Findings of Fact ¶ 4; See Chidetta Reed’s Motion for Summary Judgment, ¶5.

¹⁸See Order, Findings of Fact ¶ 4.

Before asserting a claim against NUFIC, the Plaintiff sought and received benefits from the uninsured motorist coverage available under a policy providing benefits to the Plaintiff's mother in the amount of \$35,000.¹⁹ This recovery was prompted by the Association's motion for plaintiff to exhaust all potential solvent sources of insurance coverage before recovering from the Association. After nearly a year of litigating this matter, Defendant Reed, by and through Counsel, filed a Motion to Compel Plaintiff to Serve Solvent Insurer of Wheels to Work Program, on August 18, 2004, claiming that the policy issued by NUFIC and procured through BRIM provided coverage for the plaintiff's claims, and therefore, such proceeds would have to be exhausted before any compensation could be pursued against the Association.²⁰ In support of its position, the Association cited *West Virginia Code* § 33-26-12, which provides that: "a person with a claim against any solvent insurer in an insurance policy other than the insolvent insurer, *which is also a covered claim*, must first exhaust his rights under that policy [before the Guaranty Association is triggered.]" (Emphasis added).²¹ This provision is commonly referred to as the "non-duplication" provision.

As a result of said Motion, the Plaintiff filed a Notice of Uninsured Motorist Claim before the Circuit Court on August 24, 2004, claiming benefits under the policy obtained by BRIM and issued through NUFIC on the vehicle being driven at the time of the accident in question.²² NUFIC filed a "Notice of Appearance" in the Mingo County Circuit Court on September 24, 2005.²³ On

¹⁹See Chidetta Reed's Memorandum in Support of Summary Judgment, at p. 3, Feb. 3, 2005.

²⁰See Defendant Chidetta Reed's Motion to Compel, Aug. 19, 2004.

²¹See Chidetta Reed's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment at p. 7, Feb. 3, 2005.

²²See Order, Finding of Fact ¶ 6.

²³See Notice of Appearance, Sept. 27, 2005.

December 8, 2005, NUFIC filed its Motion For Summary Judgment and Memorandum in Support of Motion, asserting that the insurance policy at issue did not provide coverage for the plaintiff's claim until all primary coverage had been exhausted, as the NUFIC policy was an "excess" policy.²⁴ The Association, on behalf of Defendant Chidetta Reed, filed its Motion for Summary Judgment and Response to NUFIC's Motion on February 1, 2005, asserting that the NUFIC policy provided "primary" coverage for the plaintiff's claims.²⁵

A hearing on the dispositive motions was held on February 7, 2005. At that time, counsel for NUFIC presented evidence to the Court that the Oak Casualty policy was in fact obtained by the HRDF, which had paid the premiums on that policy for the vehicle in question. An affidavit signed by Linda Lispcomb, Human Resources Manager at HRDF, as well as canceled checks and a list of insured vehicles, were provided to the Court by way of a Supplement to the Motion for Summary Judgment shortly after the hearing.²⁶ The lease agreement required HRDF to provide "normal class rate" insurance to the lessee, (Ms. Reed), on the vehicle during the two-year lease to own period. In addition to the Oak Casualty policy, HRDF qualified for certain excess insurance provided to the State of West Virginia, through BRIM and NUFIC, and after paying the appropriate premiums, HRDF became an additional named insured to the NUFIC policy covering numerous other vehicles owned by the HRDF.²⁷

Pursuant to the West Virginia Insurance Guaranty Association Act, *W. Va. Code* § 33-26-1,

²⁴See NUFIC's Motion for Summary Judgment, Dec. 9, 2005.

²⁵See Chidetta Reed's Motion for Summary Judgment, Feb.3, 2005.

²⁶See Supplement to Motion for Summary Judgment, at Exhibit 1.

²⁷See Order, Findings of Fact ¶ 7.

et seq., the Association will provide payment to a claimant for a covered claim under an insurance policy when their insurer has been declared insolvent. The insolvency of Oak Casualty mandates that the Association provide payment to a claimant with a covered claim under the Oak Casualty policy.²⁸ In order for a claim to succeed under the West Virginia Insurance Guaranty Association Act, *W.Va. Code* § 33-26-12 (1) requires a claimant to first exhaust available insurance under any solvent policies that may be in effect for the covered claim.²⁹

The NUFIC policy in this case is not available insurance because the clear and unambiguous language of the policy provides that it is an excess policy which can *only* provide coverage when primary insurance proceeds have been exhausted. Therefore, the plaintiff's claims are not *covered claims* under the NUFIC policy as anticipated by the Act. The Association has asserted that the NUFIC policy language found in the Business Auto Coverage Form provides primary coverage for any covered auto owned by the insured.³⁰ The Court agreed with the Association on this point and held that the terms of the NUFIC policy, as identified by the Association, rendered NUFIC the primary insurer for the plaintiff's claims.³¹ The Court further held that the plain language of the NUFIC policy establishes that it provides primary insurance coverage to the automobile owned and operated by the insureds, the HRDF and Ms. Reed.

²⁸See Order, Conclusions of Law ¶ 1-2.

²⁹See Order, Conclusions of Law ¶ 3.

³⁰See Chidetta's Reed's Memorandum in Support of Motion for Summary Judgment, p. 6.

³¹See Order, Conclusions of Law ¶ 8 - ¶ 9.

POLICY LANGUAGE PROVISIONS

The relevant portion of the policy states unambiguously on the Certificate of Liability Insurance found on the first page of the policy as follows:³²

Excess Coverage:

If the Additional Insured has other primary insurance for the hazards covered by the above policies, the coverage afforded by this certificate does not apply to losses occurring before the expiration or termination date of the other insurance except to the extent that the amount of loss exceeds the limit of liability of the other insurance, but then only for an amount not exceeding the difference between \$1,000,000 and the limit of liability of the other insurance.

The policy also contains an Amendatory Endorsement #10, which provides:

1. If an "insured" has other primary insurance for the hazards covered by this insurance, this insurance does not apply to losses occurring before the expiration or termination date of the other insurance except to the extent that the amount of loss exceeds the limit of liability of the insurance, but then only for an amount not exceeding the difference between any higher applicable limit of liability stated in the schedule of this policy and the limit of liability of the other insurance.³³

This provision is an Endorsement applicable to the policy, and specifically incorporates each Certificate of Liability insurance issued to West Virginia Non Profit organizations. HRDF was provided coverage as an additional insured on the NUFIC policy by virtue of the Certificate of Liability Insurance³⁴ and Amendatory Endorsement No. 1, which identifies HRDF as an additional named insured. The applicable limit of liability is also found on the Certificate, indicating a limit of \$1,000,000 each occurrence for all coverages combined. The language

³²A complete copy of the NUFIC policy was previously attached to NUFIC's Petition for Appeal as Exhibit 1, and has been bated stamped for the Court. The remaining citations to the policy will be referred to by page number.

³³See NUFIC's Policy, p. 25 - 26.

³⁴See Order, Finding of Fact ¶ 7.

relied upon by the Association and held by the Court to provide primary coverage for the vehicle in question is found in the Business Auto Coverage Form of the policy, Policy No. RMCA 534-85-61, which states in pertinent part that:

For any covered "auto" that you own, this Coverage Form provides primary insurance. For any covered "auto" you don't own, the insurance provided by this coverage form is excess over any other collectible insurance.³⁵

III. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Circuit Court erred in failing to give effect to the plain and unambiguous language contained in the valid Amendatory Endorsement, which modified the policy language in the Business Auto Coverage Form and provided that coverage afforded the insureds under the policy was "excess" for losses occurring before the expiration or termination date of other applicable insurance.
2. The Circuit Court erred in finding that the NUFIC policy provided primary coverage to the Plaintiff's claims herein.

IV. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES RELIED UPON

- *West Virginia Code* § 29-12-5
- *West Virginia Code* § 33-1-16
- *West Virginia Code* § 33-26-1
- *West Virginia Code* § 33-26-8 (1) (b)
- *West Virginia Code* § 33-26-8(1)(c)
- *West Virginia Code* § 33-26-12
- *N.C. Guaranty Association Act*, G.S. § 58-48-1

³⁵See NUFIC's Policy, p. 40; See Order, Conclusion of Law ¶ 9.

- *Allstate Insurance Company v. State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company*,
178 W.Va. 704, 364 S.E.2d 30 (1987).
- *Alaska Rural Elec. Co., v. INSCO Ltd.*,
785 P.2d 1193 (Alaska 1990).
- *Ambassador Assc. v. Corcoran*,
541 N.Y.S.2d 715 (1989).
- *Cook v. McDowell County Emergency Ambulance Service Authority, Inc.*,
191 W.Va. 256, 445 S.E.2d 197 (1994).
- *Devane v. Kennedy*,
205, W.Va. 519, 519 S.E.2d 622 (1999).
- *Eggleston v. West Virginia Department of Highways*,
189 W.Va. 230, 429 S.E.2d 636 (1993).
- *Keffer v. Prudential Ins. Co.*,
153 W.Va. 813, 172 S.E. 2d 714 (1970).
- *Kinderman & Sons, Inc. v. United Nat. Ins. Co.*,
593 A2d 857 (Pa Super 1987), *aff'd without opinion*, 619 A2d 1058(Sup. Ct. PA 1993).
- *Morbark Ind. Inc. v. Western Empl. Ins. Co.*,
429 N.W.2d 213 (Mich.App. 1988).
- *North Carolina Insurance Guaranty Association v. Century Indemnity Company*,
444 S.E.2d 464 (N.C.App. 1994).
- *Playtex FP, Inc., v. Columbia Co.*,
622 A.2d 1074 (Del. Super. 1992)

- *Russell v. State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company*,
188 W.Va. 81, 422 S.E.2d 803 (1992).
- *Tennant v. Smallwood*,
211 W.Va. 703, 568 S.E.2d 10 (2002).
- *West Virginia Insurance Guaranty Association v. Potts*,
209 W.Va. 682, 550 S.E.2d 660 (2001), *aff'd and remanded*,
West Virginia Insurance Guaranty Association v. Potts,
214 W.Va. 332, 589 S.E.2d 216 (2003)
- *Washington Ins. Guaranty Ass. v. Guaranty Nat. Ins. Co.*,
685 F. Supp 1160 (W.D. Washington 1988).
- *Wurth v. Ideal Mut. Ins. Co.*,
518 N.E.2d 607 (Ohio App 3d 1987);

V. **ARGUMENT**

1. **THE INSURANCE POLICY PROCURED THROUGH THE BOARD OF RISK AND INSURANCE MANAGEMENT ("BRIM") PROGRAM AND ISSUED BY NUFIC TO THE HUMAN RESOURCES DEVELOPMENT FOUNDATION CONTAINED A VALID AMENDATORY ENDORSEMENT WHICH MODIFIED THE POLICY LANGUAGE AND COVERAGE AFFORDED UNDER THE POLICY, SUCH THAT SAID COVERAGE BECAME EXCESS COVERAGE.**

Where the issue on appeal from a circuit court is clearly a question of law, such as the determination of coverage under an insurance contract, the Court will apply a *de novo* standard of review. Syl. pt. 1, *Tennant v. Smallwood*, 211 W.Va. 703, 568 S.E.2d 10 (2002). The language relied upon by the Association, and held by the Court to afford primary coverage for the plaintiff's claims, is found in the general policy provisions of the Business Auto Coverage Form. Yet, the

Amendatory Endorsement, as discussed above, unambiguously states: *“This endorsement changes the policy. Please read it carefully. This endorsement, effective 12:01 a.m. 07/01/2001 forms a part of Policy No. RMCA 534-85-61.”* In West Virginia, an insurance policy is defined by *West Virginia Code* § 33-1-16, which provides: “Policy means the contract effecting insurance, or the certificate thereof, by whatever name called, and includes all clauses, riders, endorsements and papers attached thereto and made a part thereof.”

The language in the NUFIC policy endorsement cited above clearly provides that if an “insured” has other primary insurance for the hazards covered by this insurance, then this insurance does not apply to losses occurring before the expiration or termination date of the other insurance, except for any amount of loss that may exceed the limit of liability of the primary insurance, in an amount not exceeding the difference between any higher applicable limit of liability stated in the schedule of this policy and the limit of liability of the other insurance.³⁶ This language in the policy was intended to modify the general language relied upon by the Court and the Association contained in the Auto Coverage Form. As a valid endorsement, the above-quoted provision became part of the policy effective July 1, 2001, nearly two months before the accident described in the Complaint.

The lower court apparently considered the above-quoted language of the Amendatory Endorsement meaningless in considering the coverage afforded under the NUFIC policy. However, if amendatory endorsements were not made part of the NUFIC policy, then there would be no coverage for the HRDF at all, as the HRDF is an additional insured on the state policy *only* by virtue of the language contained in Endorsement # 1, “Named Insured Endorsement” which provides:

³⁶See NUFIC’s Policy, p. 25 - 26.

This endorsement modifies insurance provided under the following:

Business Auto Coverage Form

Item 1 of the Policy Declarations, "Named Insured" is completed as follows:

- A. Each West Virginia Political Subdivision or Non Profit Non Governmental Organizations, covered by Certificates of Liability Insurance on file with the Company.³⁷

The Court below found that the HRDF was an additional insured on the NUFIC policy, which afforded coverage for the Plaintiff's claims.³⁸ Therefore, the Court must have considered the endorsement which completed the "named insureds" on the policy to include the HRDF as a valid part of the insurance policy. Without this endorsement, no coverage would be provided to the HRDF at all under the NUFIC policy. It is inconceivable how the lower court could have intended this inconsistency when rendering its decision on the insurance coverage issue herein.

The law in West Virginia is well established: "Where the provisions of an insurance policy contract are clear and unambiguous they are not subject to judicial construction or interpretation, but full effect will be given to the plain meaning intended." Syl. pt 1, *Russell v. State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company*, 188 W.Va. 81, 422 S.E.2d 803 (1992)(quoting *Keffer v. Prudential Ins. Co.*, 153 W.Va. 813, 813, 172 S.E. 2d 714, 714 (1970). Also clear in this State is the principle that: "It is not the right or province of a court to alter, pervert, or destroy the clear meaning and intent of the parties as expressed in unambiguous language in their written contract or to make a new or different contract for them." Syl. pt. 3, *Cortiga Development Co. v. United Fuel Gas Co.*, 147 W.Va.

³⁷See NUFIC's Policy, p. 12.

³⁸See Order, Findings of Fact ¶ 7.

484, 128 S.E.2d 626 (1962). Reading the entire provisions of the insurance policy, as that term is defined to include all endorsements made a part thereto, the unambiguous language does not afford primary insurance coverage for the plaintiff's loss in this case.

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