1. THE KIND OF PROCEEDING AND THE NATURE OF THE RULING IN THE LOWER TRIBUNAL

A civil action was filed in the Circuit Court of Mingo County, West Virginia, styled *Walter Gauze by his next friend, Mary Meade Plaintiff, v. Chidetta Reed, Defendant*, and assigned civil action number 03-C-264. Mr. Gauze claimed Ms. Reed had negligently operated the vehicle in which he was a passenger, and he claims permanent and severe injuries caused by the accident, including closed head injuries. The accident was a single-car collision, involving only the Reed vehicle. Mr. Gauze also sued Oak Casualty Insurance Company (hereinafter Oak) for bad faith, which was later dismissed by the trial court upon motion by counsel for Oak, Robert Greer. The Oak liability policy limits would have been \$100,000.00.

After the insolvency of Oak, the West Virginia Insurance Guaranty Association (hereinafter the WVIGA) assumed the defense of the Oak insured, Chidetta Reed, and plaintiff attempted to locate all sources of solvent coverage to comply with the requirements of the Guaranty Act. In so doing, plaintiff recovered \$35,000.00 from AIG under his mother's, Mary Meade's, uninsured motorist and medical payments coverage. Plaintiff then looked to National Union Fire Insurance Company (hereinafter NUFIC), another AIG company, as an additional solvent source of coverage with One Million Dollar (\$1,000,000.00) limits, on the car leased to Ms. Reed but owned by the state of West Virginia through the Human Resource Development Foundation (hereinafter HRDF).

When the WVIGA and NUFIC filed cross motions for summary judgment on the issue of the order in which the policies must be aligned and the limits exhausted, the Mingo County Circuit Court ruled that NUFIC's policy was the next policy

answerable to the plaintiff for his damages. The NUFIC policy has limits of \$1,000,000.00; the Oak policy had \$100,000.00 limits.

The policy of insurance issued to the State of West Virginia by NUFIC, which covers vehicles owned by the HRDF, provides full coverage or in the alternative, at least the statutory minimum limit of bodily injury liability of \$20,000.00 per person and \$40,000.00 per accident required under the West Virginia law. The defendant, Chidetta Reed, moved the trial court to grant summary judgment in her favor by so declaring. She further moved the trial court to rule that NUFIC's solvent insurance coverage on the vehicle at issue in the civil action provided coverage for the plaintiff's claims before any liability accrued against the West Virginia Insurance Guaranty Association. NUFIC's motion for summary judgment moved the court to dismiss it from the action, claiming its policy provided no coverage to defendant Reed, in spite of the clear policy language. The trial court ruled in favor of the defendant, Chidetta Reed, on the issue of primacy of coverage.

However, NUFIC's Appeal should be denied because it was filed late, after the deadline established by the court's 1 September, 2005, Order, but more importantly, it should fail because the trial court made the correct ruling, as more fully set out within this Response to NUFIC's Appeal.

2. A STATEMENT OF THE FACTS OF THE CASE

Factual History

On or about 31 July, 2001, Chidetta Reed leased a 1993 Ford Escort owned by the Human Resource Development Foundation, Inc. (the HRDF), through a state-funded program known as "Wheels to Work." In the lease agreement, the HRDF

acknowledged sole ownership of the vehicle and agreed to provide insurance coverage on the vehicle. In addition, a policy of insurance was purchased by Chidetta Reed from the now insolvent Oak Casualty Insurance Company to provide coverage beginning 26 July, 2001, to provide bodily injury and property damage liability and uninsured motorist coverage, as required by West Virginia law. Evidence of Oak's insolvency, and the Orders documenting it, were presented to the Circuit Court. Please see *Defendant's Motion to Compel Plaintiff to Serve Solvent Insurer of Wheels-to-Work Vehicle to Exhaust Potential Liability Coverage and Memorandum of Law in Support Thereof*, filed on or about August 18, 2004.

Concurrently, the State of West Virginia had a comprehensive automobile policy in full force and effect, numbered RM CA 534-85-61, and issued by National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, PA (NUFIC). That policy covers all vehicles owned by the State and/or its "additional insureds." HRDF is named as an additional insured on the policy which was effective 1 July, 2001 to expire 1 July, 2002. See *Certificate of Liability Insurance* attached as Exhibit 1 to *National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania's Motion for Summary Judgment* dated December 8, 2004.

Under its own language, the NUFIC policy is considered excess coverage only "if the additional insured has other primary insurance for the hazards covered by the above policies...." The legal issue is whether the insolvent Oak policy is "other primary insurance" for the additional insured, the HRDF, since Oak is insolvent. It is clear that due to the insolvency of Oak, the additional insured (the HRDF) does not have other primary insurance in force to cover the claims of the plaintiff in this instance. Therefore,

it is clear from the policy language that the NUFIC policy cannot be deemed excess coverage under these facts. The same result is true under an analysis and application of the Guaranty Act, West Virginia Code §§33-26-1 through 33-26-19.

On or about 4 September, 2001, during the periods covering both the Oak and NUFIC policies, Walter Gauze alleges he was a guest passenger in the 1993 Ford Escort being operated by Chidetta Reed when a single vehicle accident occurred, allegedly causing serious injury to Mr. Gauze. There is a factual dispute as to whether or not Mr. Gauze was operating the vehicle at the time the accident occurred, but that factual determination was not necessary to the trial Court's decision on the coverage afforded by the NUFIC policy, and is likewise not necessary to the Supreme Court of Appeals to enable it to reach a decision on the issues here presented. Mr. Gauze filed a civil action against Chidetta Reed for negligent operation of the vehicle resulting in his injury on or about 3 September, 2003, and against Oak for bad faith. Counsel was retained to defend Chidetta Reed and set about to conduct an investigation into the circumstances and events surrounding the motor vehicle accident and injuries allegedly sustained therein. Oak was later dismissed as a bad faith defendant, due to its insolvency.

On or about 19 November, 2002, Oak was declared insolvent. Oak's insolvency triggered the West Virginia Insurance Guaranty Act and accordingly, the WVIGA assumed responsibility for defense of claims under Oak's policies, in accordance with the mandates of the Act. With Oak's insolvency the vehicle Mr. Gauze claims was driven by Chidetta Reed, the vehicle leased from the Wheels to Work program, met one legal definition of an "uninsured motor vehicle":

W. Va. Code §33-6-31(j): A motor vehicle shall be deemed to be uninsured within the meaning of this section, if there has been a valid bodily injury or property damage liability policy issued upon such vehicle, but which policy is uncollectible, in whole or in part, by reason of the insurance company issuing such policy upon such vehicle being insolvent or having been placed in receivership. The right of subrogation granted insurers under the provisions of subsection (f) of this section shall not apply as against any person or persons who is or becomes an uninsured motorist for the reasons set forth in this subsection.

This definition is also in keeping with both policies' definitions, so there is no conflict between the statutory language and the policies in this regard.

Due to the insolvency, plaintiff pursued and received uninsured motorist coverage from a solvent insurer providing liability insurance to his mother and other residents of her household. Upon information and belief, Mr. Gauze received \$35,000.00, which represented the policy limits of an AIG insurance company automobile policy issued to Mary Meade, under its uninsured motorist and its medical payments benefits coverages.

The National Union Fire Insurance Company Policy

As previously mentioned, the State of West Virginia purchased comprehensive automobile liability insurance on state-owned vehicles, including the HRDF as an additional insured. The liability limit is \$1 million for any one accident or loss. The uninsured motorist coverage limit is \$1 million for any one accident or loss. The policy covers any automobile "owned by, leased to, or loaned to" the State of West Virginia, or any State Agency. This definition likewise applies to the uninsured/underinsured motorist coverage provided by the policy coverage forms. If

Defendant Reed were driving the vehicle at the time of the accident, the liability limit would provide coverage under the terms and conditions of the policy.

In the policy coverage form (Form CA 00 01 07 97, at page 2 of 10; please see *Exhibit 8 of National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania's Motion for Summary Judgment*), NUFIC agreed to pay all sums an "insured" legally must pay as damages because of "bodily injury" or "property damage" to which this insurance applies. If Chidetta Reed were driving the vehicle in question at the time of the accident, she was doing so with the permission of the HRDF pursuant to the lease agreement. The definition of "insured" is extended to include any person while using with permission a covered auto owned by the insured in the State of West Virginia. If Walter Gauze was the driver of the vehicle, he was using the vehicle with the permission of the lessee, Chidetta Reed, and therefore qualifies as an insured under the policy who may be entitled to uninsured/underinsured motorist benefits.

While NUFIC asserts that the policy provides only excess coverage, the policy form (Form CA 00 01 07 97, at page 8 of 10; please see *Exhibit 8 of National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania's Motion for Summary Judgment*) defines the coverage provided under the policy as "primary" for any covered auto owned by an insured. (See General Conditions, Paragraph 5. Other Insurance; please see *Exhibit 8 of National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania's Motion for Summary Judgment*). Here, the state of West Virginia is the insured, the HRDF is the additional insured, and their status as insureds causes the coverage to be primary by the policy's own terms and conditions.

Additionally, the policy provides West Virginia uninsured and underinsured motorist coverage, pursuant to form CA 21 22 12 98. The policy also indicates that NUFIC will pay all sums an "insured" is legally entitled to recover as compensatory damages from the owner or driver of an "uninsured" or "underinsured motor vehicle." (Policy form, at page 1 of 3; please see *Exhibit 8 of National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania's Motion for Summary Judgment*). An "insured" is anyone occupying or using a covered auto. If Plaintiff Walter Gauze was operating the vehicle at the time of the accident, the vehicle in question may qualify as an uninsured motor vehicle which would entitle Mr. Gauze to the benefit of the uninsured motorist coverage.

3. THE ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR RELIED UPON ON APPEAL AND THE MANNER IN WHICH THEY WERE DECIDED IN THE LOWER TRIBUNAL

The trial court did not err in ruling that the coverage afforded the state of West Virginia under the NUFIC policy is primary to indemnify the defendant and from which the plaintiff may recover, under these facts, the policies at issue, and the statutes governing these issues. For these reasons, more fully articulated below, the Petition should be denied. It should also be denied because NUFIC's brief was filed after the deadline established for its Appeal to be filed.

Issues

(1) Whether solvent coverage provided by NUFIC is primary coverage for a vehicle owned by the State of West Virginia and Human Resources Development Fund and leased to Chidetta Reed, where the policy issued by Oak to Ms. Reed became

insolvent after the accident, and if so, is there \$1 million available under the liability and uninsured motorists provisions of the policy?

(2) In the alternative, whether the solvent coverage provided by NUFIC exists in at least the minimum mandatory limits required by the omnibus statute, West Virginia Code Section 33-6-31(b)?

(3) Whether the February 15, 2005, Order was interlocutory or final where it did not resolve all issues between all parties to the litigation, and did not fall into any articulated exception?

4. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES RELIED UPON, A DISCUSSION OF THE LAW, AND THE RELIEF PRAYED FOR

Points and Authorities Relied Upon

Allstate Insurance Company v. State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company, 178 W.Va. 704, 364 S.E.2d 30 (1987).

Cannelton Indus., Inc. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. of Am., 194 W.Va. 203, 460 S.E.2d 18 (1994).

Durm v. Heck's, Inc., 184 W. Va. 562, 566, 401 S.E.2d 908 (1991).

Gooch v. West Virginia Department of Public Safety, 195 W. Va. 357; 465 S.E.2d 628 (1995).

James M.B. v. Carolyn M., 193 W. Va. 289, 456 S.E.2d 16 (1995).

Lechner v. Scharrer, 145 Wis.2d 667, 429 N.W.2d 491 (Wis. Ct. App. 1988).

Luko v. Lloyd's of London, 573 A.2d 1139 (Pa. 1990).

MacNeal, Inc. v Interstate Fire & Casualty Insurance Co., 132 Ill. App.3d 564, 477 N.E.2d 1322.

Thomson v. Betts, 754 F.2d [1243,] 1246 [(5th Cir. 1985).

West Virginia Code §33-6-31(j).

West Virginia Code §33-26-1 through 19.

Rule 54, West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure.

Rule 56(d), West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure.

The West Virginia Insurance Guaranty Act. The West Virginia Insurance Guaranty Act, West Virginia Code §33-26-1, *et seq.*, created a means by which insureds are afforded a remedy for their **covered** claims in the event their insurer becomes insolvent. The WVIGA is not an insurance company; it does not collect premiums or issue policies, but is a nonprofit organization to aid individuals when their insurance carrier cannot satisfy its contractual obligations due to insolvency. *Cannelton Indus., Inc. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. of Am*, 194 W.Va. 203, 460 S.E.2d 18 (1994). The legislature intended for the Act to be “liberally construed to effect the purpose under section two of the article.” West Virginia Code §33-26-4.

The plaintiff below has followed the Code’s mandate in this case, seeking coverage from NUFIC, which issued a policy covering this loss, whether under the liability, medical payments or uninsured coverages afforded under the policy, and NUFIC is a solvent source of insurance coverage as contemplated by the Guaranty Act.

The Guaranty Act requires that any person having a claim against a solvent insurer under any provision in an insurance policy other than a policy of an insolvent insurer, shall be required to exhaust first his right under such solvent insurer’s policy. West Virginia Code §33-26-12. The language of the statute is mandatory, not suggestive.

Legal Analysis and Argument. In West Virginia, the bright line rule of law is that when a pro-rata clause and an excess clause appear in the automobile policies of both the driver and the owner of an automobile, the insurer of the owner is primarily liable and must bear the whole loss, within the limits of the policy. The primary obligation to

defend and indemnify follows the automobile, rather than the driver. *Allstate Insurance Company v. State Automobile Mutual Insurance Company*, 178 W.Va. 704, 364 S.E.2d 30 (1987). The analysis is the same whether or not Chidetta Reed was the insured driver on an Oak policy. The HRDF was named to show its financial interest as the owner of that vehicle. Concurrently, the HRDF was insured under the comprehensive automobile policy issued to the State of West Virginia. In this instance, the HRDF was named on both automobile policies, with NUFIC asserting that its policy is excess over the primary Oak policy's coverage. However, as shown by the NUFIC policy language, in this event the NUFIC policy is not an excess policy. When the primary automobile liability carrier becomes insolvent, in keeping with the law and spirit of the Guaranty Act, the next layer of solvent insurance must respond to claims arising out of the use of the automobile before the Association is to participate in payment of claims. This conclusion is mandated by the NUFIC policy language and by the language of the Guaranty Act.

The policy language NUFIC claims creates **excess** coverage is the very language which clearly shows it to be provisional. That is, the amendatory endorsement indicates the policy provides excess coverage **if** there is no primary coverage. Here, where Oak is insolvent, it cannot provide primary coverage; the vehicle became an uninsured vehicle, by operation of law. This conclusion is mandated by the Guaranty Act, which clearly requires exhaustion of all coverages from solvent insurance sources before participation by WVIGA, and by the omnibus statute which indicates that a vehicle is uninsured which has been insured but the carrier has thereafter become insolvent. It is also in keeping with the language of the NUFIC policy, which is distorted by NUFIC's argument.

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